River Welland

The decision to couple the River Welland with the River Witham was prompted by similarities between the
terrain of their courses, as well as their relative proximity near their mouths, where it is almost possible to see
the latter as a tributary of the former. The source of the River Welland at Sibbertoft, in Northamptonshire, is at
Grid Reference Point SP 676 829, close to the 170m contour, (a location, c65km south-west of the source of
the River Witham near South Witham), and it flows 104km, mainly eastwards to reach the Wash. The courses
of the river and its main tributaries are shown in the map which accompanies Table Wel at the end of the
document. With a mean rate of fall of 1.63m/km, it is not quite an archetypal lowland river, but anyone
observing the passage of its last reaches through fenland would find this a moot distinction. On classic

geological maps the river is shown to rise on the spine of England in a zone of Lias and Rhaetic rocks, but

downstream it flows in the zone of Oolitic Limestone rocks. The | atter are often term
they are easily worked and shaped, hence the many neat ashlar structures on the banks of the river, built with

stone from quarries conveniently near.

Sibbertoft is an unpretentious small village

with  largely modern housing, well §

separated between trees and grassy ;;_

spaces, though the central green looks

somet hing of an afte

Church, to the north-east of the village,

dates in part to the 13" century, and is

built of coursed lias, the local stone, and

cobble. Unfortunately in my eyes at least,

the prominent entrance porch and south

aisle were workaday 19" century additions. Finding the actual source of the River Welland presents a

difficulty. Field ditches join to form a coherent stream to the north-west of the village, and OS maps of the 19"

century and up to the present day, name this stream the River Welland, but they also mark the source of the

river as beside the junction of Church Street and Naseby Street in the south-east corner of the village, shown

in the photograph above. ( Art hur Mee <c¢l ai med that the souheoveatheras i n

had been dry before my visit; perhaps water flows there sometimes, and it may make its way into a ditch on
the far side of the road at the top-left of the photograph. However, there is no obvious route by which water
might flow from there to reach the stream at the other side of the village. So I think it best to stick with the

location north-west of the village as the source, at the grid point given in the previous paragraph.

Before properly beginning my historical journey, a detour is almost obligatory, because the village of Naseby
is 5km south of Sibbertoft, and the decisive battle of the 1* Civil War was fought roughly half-way between the
two on the 14" June 1645. There is a tendency to present the Royalist cause before the battle in too gloomy a
light; they were on the back foot but still saw victory as possible. Their disasters in 1645 were as much to do
with a flawed decision to campaign in two widely separated regions, the South-West of England, and the far
north, as with the reorganisation of the Parliamentary forces which is most often offered as the cause. The

division of their forces made it possible for Sir Thomas Fairfax and the New Model Army to defeat them in
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detail. When King Charles | and the larger part of his army left their stronghold of Oxford to head northwards,
the city was besieged by Fairfax. The Royalist Army paused to capture Leicester, perhaps a ploy to draw
Fairfax away from Oxford. If so, it succeeded but at a cost which ensured the defeat of the Royalists. Fairfax
obtained permission from Parliament to confront the Royalist Army, and closed with them far more quickly
than they had anticipated, making avoidance of battle difficult. Ev e n s o ,outbfffiagourKiépaty Brisice
Rupert, advised flight, though that course would have been perilous with a pursuing army close behind. The
King weighed the risks but decided to fight, in spite of the fact that his army was outnumbered with c4000
cavalry and ¢c5000 infantry, compared to t(bome authaitbsy er s ar
make the gap in total numbers as small as 3000, but all agree that the Parliamentary Army was significantly
larger). The numerical disadvantage was in large part a consequence of the division of the Royalist forces,
since Lord Goring, commanding in the South-West, had enough men to have closed the gap, and as a

formidable cavalry commander, his own presence might also have made a difference.

The excellent schematic, taken from Mr.
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charge led by the Palatine Princes, Rupert and Maurice, blew away the Parliamentary cavalry opposed to
them, on Fairf ax 6 sonltowvdrds his artitledy panloanc lthggage train; there they met strong
resistance, which delayed their return to the battlefield. (Artillery played virtually no part in the battle).The
outnumbered Royalist infantry also moved forward vigorously and steadily pushed their adversaries back in
the centre of the battlefield, though they did not succeed in breaking through. Oliver Cromwell is often wrongly
described as the Parliamentary commander; he actually led the cavalry on the Parliamentary right wing, and
here his actions undoubtedly turned the tide of the battle, converting a faltering defensive action into a
crushing victory. He drove back the rather stuttering advance of his direct opponents, Lord Langdaled s
horsemen, soon dispersing them, and then, having kept his own men together, he turned towards the centre
taking the Royalist infantry in the flank. This attack on their opponents enabled the Parliamentary infantry to
gain the upper hand, and at that point Fairfax released his reserve to complete the victory by driving most of

the Royalist army off the battlefield, though those who escaped maintained some order in retreat.



It was all done in a morning; the King had been led away, when the outcome was clear, and with the remnants
of his army, he escaped northwards, but with no prospect of seriously challenging the main Parliamentary
army again. The Royalist casualties of c1000 were much the same as those on the other side, but crucially
they lost 4500 prisoners, including many officers, all stranded on the battlefield. The Battle of Naseby had
been hard-fought, with the weaker Royal i st Army hol ding the upper shand i
cavalry turned the tide, reinforcing his growing prestige. (Similarities between the Battle of Naseby, and the
Battle of Rocroi, which had ended Spanish supremacy in Western Europe, 2 years earlier, and the roles of
Oliver Cromwell and the Great Condé in achieving victory, are easily found.) Fairfax has received fewer
plaudits from military historians, yet he gave the firm leadership lacked by Parliamentary armies until then, and
undoubtedly it was his hot pursuit before the battle, which had created the opportunity to fight on favourable
terms. The Lord General regrouped quickly and took his army, without Cromwell, to the South-West, where a
crushing victory over Lord Goring at the Battle of Langport, in Somerset on 10" July 1645, more or less

completed the destruction of the Royalist forces, making their defeat in the 1% Civil War inevitable.

Although it is here presented as part of an
account of the River Welland, two other
major rivers begin their courses nearby.
The Warwickshire River Avon rises at
Avon Well in the village of Naseby, and
then flows west by way of Naseby
Reservoir, which was created to supply
water to the nearby Grand Union Canal, to
meet up eventually with the River Severn
at Tewkesbury, the location of another
famous battle, fought in 1471 during the
Wars of the Roses. At the eastern edge of
the Naseby battlefield there was and still is
marshy ground, the source of a headwater
of the River Ise, a left-bank tributary of the
River Nene, which flows to the Wash.
Other features like a high hedge at the
west edge of the battlefield in 1645 survive

in what may be a comparatively unaltered

pastoral landscape, though | am sure the

fields are much larger now. There are two monuments commemorating the battle; the one shown, south of the
battlefield, is often referred to as the Cromwell memorial, and is claimed to stand, where he initiated the
decisive cavalry charge. However, it is just to the west of the Naseby/Sibbertoft road, whereas the schematic
suggests that Cromwell must have led his charge on the east side of that road. When | stood there most
recently on a quiet spring day, | found it hard to imagine that one of the decisive battles of British history had

been fought by ¢c25000 men on the gently sloping green fields in front of me. The other monument is a



pinnacle atop a hillock in Naseby village, where Fairfax assembled his army, after their rapid march, and was

joined by Cromwell, who had come hotfoot from London.

Having established itself as separate from field drains, the River Welland begins as a small stream passing
between arable fields interspersed with a few grassed areas and clumps of trees. However, contrary to
expectation, it flows due west, and does so for c3km, before it makes a fairly sharp turn, first to the north and
north-east, and then eastwards. This course takes it round the Hothorpe Hills which are a barely noticeable
area of slightly higher ground to the north and west of Sibbertoft, at least as viewed from there, though their
slopes are steeper, seen from the north. Shortly before the change of direction, the river becomes the
boundary between Leicestershire, on the left bank, and Northamptonshire on the right. Husbands Bosworth is
a large village in the former county, just past the apex of the river bend; the 2m part of the name reflects the
ownership of the farmstead from which it grew, while the 1* part was appended to distinguish it from Market
Bosworth, some distance to the west. It is an old settlement with a church dating partly to the 14" century, and
a hall built around a small Tudor mansion, but both have been greatly altered over their lifetimes, and most of
the houses are relatively modern. Unfortunately, as Arthur Mee tells it, the village has a dark secret; in 1616, 9
local women were executed as witches, accused of inducing epileptic fits in a child of the local manor. Another
6 women would have died if King James | & VI had not heard of the case; he insisted on investigating
personally and denounced the young accuser as a fraud. The surviving women were released. King James
believed in witchcraft, but was always wary of false testimony provided by interested parties. South of the
village, Husbands Bosworth Airfield was opened as an RAF training establishment in 1943. Vickers Wellington
Bombers were used to prepare aircrew for night-time raids on Germany. The airfield was decommissioned in

1946, and is now the home of a gliding club and a base for police helicopters.

Although the river is crossed by a couple
of farm tracks quite early in its course, it
has travelled c6km before a first minor
road, from Sibbertoft to Theddingworth
gives easy public access. The road was
realigned in the 1830s to take it away from
Hothorpe  Manor House, a fairly
undistinguished 19" century rectangular
block, so the bridge with its single

recessed arch rings cannot be older than

that, even although the narrow bricks with ZE = o 3@ ‘“‘
which it was constructed suggest greater age; perhaps they were cannibalised from some other structure. The
photograph shows the river here, still a small stream by any measure, though it is suggested that there was a
medieval watermill nearby. Theddingworth is a small village in Leicestershire, 8km west of Market
Harborough; it has a fine ironstone church with tower and spire, and inside there is a Norman arcade, but
most is of the 15" century. Unfortunately, its surroundings conspired against my obtaining a decent
photograph, and those on the internet are not much better. There are cottages, up to 5 centuries old, and the

Grand Union Canal, of which | shall have more to say later, passes just north of the village. Moving east along



the A4304, with the river close on the right, the next settlement is Lubenham, 3km west of Market Harborough.
Though it has a church with elements surviving from the 12" century, its most notable building is Thorpe
Lubenham Hall, on the right bank of the River Welland and thus in Northamptonshire. It is dated to the 16"
century though it may have a medieval core. It was a moated, brick-built H-shaped mansion, but was mostly

demolished in 1774, leaving only the south wing as the core of a new house which still stands.

A short distance downstream the county
boundary temporarily leaves the River
Welland as it enters the west edge of
Market Harborough; the line swings south
so that the whole of the town is in
Leicestershire. The river flows near to the
town-centre before leaving from the north-
east. As can be seen from the photograph

looking upstream from a walkway, the river

has grown considerably while flowing
9%km from Theddingworth, though it has still to receive its first substantial tributary, the peculiarly renamed
River Jordan. The growth of the town, and maybe its existence were predicated on the river being easily
fordable at this point, and the first record of a bridge dates to the 13" century, presumably near the present
north/south line of the High Street. In the 17" century, a 6-arch stone bridge is recorded, and it survived until
the early 19" century, in spite of its condition being so poor that an adjacent ford was the normal means of
crossing for carts and coaches. A 3-arch stone replacement of 1814 lasted only until 1928 when the present
concrete bridge took its place. The river is crossed by 5 bridges in the town, but none is old or of any special
distinction. . Though vague references to medieval watermills have been found, and there was a short-lived
woollen mill in the 19™ century, it seems that in modern times, there has been no watermill on the first 16km
along the River Welland, and this includes Market Harborough, though there was a windmill just north of the

town.

According to the British History website,
the High Street was divided in medieval
times by a small left-bank tributary of the

River Welland, which provided water used

to put out fires, and no doubt served other
purposes, which are perhaps best not
scrutinised; the stream was culverted in
the 18" century and apparently still flows.
The two most notable buildings in the
town, the Church of St. Dionysius and the

Old Grammar School are beside each

other at the river (south) end of the High

Street ; the somewhat doctored illustration hunguabireen t a



showing the complete buildings together. The church, which dates mainly to the 14th and 15th centuries, has
a grey ashlar tower topped with a broached spire, contrasting with the remainder of the building fabric which is
brown sandstone rubble. The school occupied the upper floor of the adjacent timber-framed building,
supported on arches which enclosed an open working ar e

1614, but like the church has been restored since then.

The River Jordan meets the right bank of
the River Welland near the station; it rises
east of the hamlet of Braybrooke in
Northamptonshire, and is 6%km long. The
name of the stream is owed to the fact that
a Baptist minister used it for baptismal
immersions in the 19" century; before
then, it had been the Bray Brook. Although
Braybrooke is associated with an

important family, the Latimers, from the

14™ century onwards, their castle was demollshed in the 17th century However 'they bwlt a brldge over the
stream in ¢1400 which survives. The east face is shown in the photograph above, and there are two visible
pointed arches with single, flush chamfered arch rings; the arches differ markedly in shape, a sign of major
rebuilding at some time. The fabric is coursed, squared, ironstone rubble with voussoirs and edging to the
large cutwaters of dressed limestone; the latter now terminate in platforms at roadway level, and almost
certainly provided refuges at one time. The present parapets, also of coursed rubble, are a much later
construct. The presence of the right-hand cutwater suggests a third arch, and it does exist though blocked up.
It is highly likely that the bridge has been widened, to the present 5m, but | was unable to get any view of the
west face, or the soffits which might have confirmed this; indeed the photograph | present is not my own
because | could not get good access to either face. There is little more to be said of the River Jordan which
flows north-west into Market Harborough to its junction with the River Welland, into which it feeds 1135

gallons per minute, perhaps 10% of the flow in the parent river.

Market Harborough probably came into
existence after the Norman Conquest, and
for a long time grew in step with a nearby
vilage Great Bowden, which is now a
suburb to the north-east. It became a
market town (obviously) and agricultural
centre, and although touched by
industrialisation during the 19" century, it

has not developed much in that direction.

With a population of 22000, it remains dependent on the rural economy, mainly farming of course but with
niche outlets supporting such country pursuits as fox hunting. That focus might have changed in a direction

suggested by the photograph above of the canal terminus basin in the town. A 10km stretch of the



Leicestershire and Northamptonshire Union Canal between Foxton and Market Harborough was opened in
1809, and if the branch had been extended to Northampton where it was planned to link with the Grand
Junction Canal, Market Harborough could have become a canal entrepot. However, an alternative scheme,
bypassing the link to Market Harborough, opened in 1814, and it is only recently that the canal with its
terminus basin has gained a new lease of life as a popular destination for leisure craft. North-west of the
town, Market Bosworth Airfield opened in 1943, and provided training for bomber crews and fighter pilots, but
it closed soon after the war ended, though the army retained the site into the 1950s; Gartree Prison is now

located there.

eeeeeeeeeeece.

The River Welland leaves Market
Harborough, heading generally north-east,
and the county boundary between
Leicestershire and Northamptonshire is
quickly picked up again. Two tributaries
join the left bank, the first called Langton
Brook, the second un-named but
noteworthy because on its banks at a
dying village called Stonton Wyville there
was a watermill in the 11" century, and

one is recorded between the 17" century,

and the 1840s, the first pre-modern mill
encountered on the journey along the River Welland. This slightly mysterious second tributary rises a short
distance north of Noseley, where the hall with its chapel are on an estate which was held by the Hazlerigg
family (there have been many spellings), from 1419, almost to the present day. The hall dates to 1725, and is
a fairly conventional rectangular block embellished with some classical features. However, the chapel is a
building of great distinction built in the 13" century to house a chantry, by the original owners of the estate, the
Marteval family; the chantry later expanded into a secular college with 8 members. The institution was
suppressed in 1547, but by then the church of St. Mary had parochial responsibilities, so services continued to
be held there, though now only occasionally. The church with 9 bays is aisleless and there is no division
between the chancel and the nave, features which apparently increase the impression of length; it had a
tower, which was demolished after being damaged by a lightning strike. The fine photograph of the building

which is not generally open to the public, was taken from the south-east by a Ms. Jewell.

The most famous estate-owner was Sir Arthur Haselrig, born in 1601, whose opposition in Parliament to the
demands of King Charles | in the early 1640s, led to a failed royal attempt to arrest him, together with 4 other
members, including John Pym; one of the trigger points for the Civil Wars. He took an active part in the
conflict, leading Parliamentary forces in South-West England, before becoming Governor of Newcastle-upon-
Tyne in 1647. Haselrig accompanied Oliver Cromwell to Scotland in 1650, but as a staunch republican, fell out
with him, when the Lord General became Lord Protector and seemed to be moving towards acceptance of the

offer of the Crown. No influential politician, including even Cromwell, found the 1650s easy to navigate, and
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Haselrig followed a convoluted path to retain influence and pursue his republican aims; unlike many of his
associates, herefusedt o negoti ate with King Rebteratidneasd tHislagheréneeftaor e t h
principle cost him dearly after 1660. He was not a regicide, having refused to take any part in the trial of King
Charles 1, and this saved him from brutal execution. However, his long-standing hostility to the monarchy, and
apparent unwillingness to seek an accommodation, made imprisonment almost inevitable. He was confined in

the Tower of London, where he died in 1661, though his family did retain the Noseley estate.

The River Welland flows in a more easterly direction after receiving the two tributaries, between low hills which
just about reach 150m in height; the patchwork of fields shows more put to pasture, rather than cultivated
crops. The mean river flow rate here is measured as 19000 gallons per minute. There are villages on each
bank along this stretch, set back from the river which presumably had boggier surrounds in times past; they
include Weston by Welland, and Ashley, south of the river in Northamptonshire, and Slawston, Medbourne,
Drayton, Bringhurst and Great Easton, north of the river in Leicestershire. All are small, and most have
interesting old churches restored in the 19" century; there is little commercial activity in any of them, and
many of their houses are occupied by people who commute to Market Harborough or Corby to the east. | shall
focus on Medbourne which is 6km north-east of Market Harborough, the largest of the villages, though with

less than 500 inhabitants.

For such a small place, there are a good
number of Listed buildings, mainly
cottages and larger dwellings dating back
to the 17" century. However there is a
much older manor house, shown
alongside, which was built in the very early
14™ century. Its antiquity is certainly not
obvious from this view, taken from a house
sale advert, not least because of the
modern windows. However the inside of
the house provides more clues, as shown
in the lower photograph of the stonework
in the passage flanking the original hall or
parlour, and some of the wooden cruck
frame, which once shaped the walls of that
chamber, survives; dendrochronology
tests have backed-up the dating of the
house, which is discussed in a learned
paper authored by Mr. Nick Hill of the
University of Leicester. He establishes that

the house was originally built as a timber-framed aisled hall house, and then rebuilt in stone 50 years later.

Those who have visited Medbourne will probably have seen the dpackhorsed bridge which crosses the

Medbourne Brook, a small tributary of the River Welland; it is in the centre of the village, and has given
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